Linde Grießhaber Summer term 2009 Master of Environmental Governance

# The power of images in environmental governance

Written paper for the module Student Organized Event

> University of Freiburg April 2009

# Table of contents:

Table of contents:
I. Introduction
II. Images versus words
III. Effects of an image
IV. The role of the media
V. Using images as a tool in environmental governance
A. Focus of the image7
1. Satellite images7
2. Photographs
3. Graphs and sketches
B. Positive versus negative images
C. Displaying the answer or leaving room for thoughts?11
VI. Conclusion
Bibliography:

# I. Introduction

"I wish that more people would get the possibility to see our wonderful planet from this perspective [from space]. With all the problems that we humans have with each other, such a view could help us to recognize, that we all literally sit in one boat. I am truly convinced that then everyone would understand that only together we can solve our problems down here,"(Ettwig, 16.03.2009, translation made by the author) said Thomas Reiter, a former German astronaut in an interview: What is it that could make people see the world differently after seeing it from space? That makes people realize that our planet is fragile? That the environment must be taken care of? It is the power of images.

This essay seeks to explain how humans are influenced by images and how this knowledge can be used in environmental governance and in general in environmental awareness rising. Section II shall describe the advantages that images have in comparison to verbal communication. This is followed by a general description of the effects of images within a person and on the person's attitude. Section IV deals with the great influence that media has nowadays on the distribution of images and thus also the media's impact on many different people all over the world. In section V it shall be described how images can be used as a tool in environmental governance. This section includes several important aspects for the decision what type of image to represent.

# II. Images versus words

Since environmental governance has the purpose to reach environmentally friendly solutions which all stakeholders can agree on, environmental governance includes a lot of discussions between the different stakeholders. Language and words therefore play a great role in that field. Therefore one might wonder what the purpose of pictures is; whether humans were not able to describe everything they see? However there are a number of advantages that images have compared to verbal communication: In the first place, in order to describe one image one needs many words. This fact is perfectly described by the common proverb: A picture is worth more than thousand words (Fulwider, 02.04.2009: 15). Yet the presenter of the images ought to make clear, which focus within the thousand words he wants to apply on the interpretation of the picture (Schuster/Woschek, 1989: 12 et seq.) since one image includes a lot of different information and can be interpreted differently according to the chosen focus. The importance of the focus of an image is further described in section V. A. Second, the information that shall be transferred, would not be as compact and precise as given with one single picture (Boehm, 2008: 13) since a person reading a text must still use his/her imagination to create an image in his/her mind to what has been told. Thus if a persons is told that for example that 1000 trees have been cut down it is still up to his/her imagination what size such an area has. Yet if he/she sees pictures of before and after the cut, the size of the cut down area is visible right away. This includes that the memory can be relieved by using images instead of words, since the listener does not have to remember the size of an area with about 1000 trees as he would have to if the fact was only told (Schuster/Woschek, 1989: 13). Third, certain information would take a lot longer to acquire or could not even be gained, such as the information given to us by magnet resonance tomography or scanning tunnelling microscopes (Boehm, 2008: 13). Again, such information is of great importance in the field of environmental governance, because one cannot decide what is best for the planet if one does not know the structure of the planet and the universe. Fourth, as described above play language and words an important role in environmental governance. However, since projects for environmental protection often not only involve citizens of one state, language might actually become an obstacle in negotiations. An image however is not restricted to English, Spanish or any other language. An image can be understood by every person no matter which language he/she speaks. Thus by using images in environmental governance one can overcome language barriers.

Green distinguishes five fields of image efficacy: First, the usage of an image is efficient, because one single image includes a broad range of information and statements (*distillation*)(Green, 2000: 19 et seq.). Second, the *impact* of an image is often greater than of verbal communication; additionally it can be understood separately from culture, time and place (ibid.). Third, images have the characteristic of *endurance*, thus they stay in mind and therefore remind on a certain topic for a long time (ibid.). Fourth, images can be used as *conviction*, because they cannot be denied (ibid.). And finally images can serve as a *concretization* tool for a certain topic by using pictures, metaphors, etc. (ibid.). All of these five fields prove that sometimes it is preferable to use an image instead of many words This is again proven by a study made by Barrett/Barrington which showed that an election candidate got most points if the written text about him was accompanied by a favourable image (2005: 103 et seqq.). When accompanied by an unfavourable image of the candidate he got less points than if there was no picture at all (ibid.). This study shows that the image has the power to exceed the influence of the words, be it in the positive or negative way.

### III. Effects of an image

As already mentioned have images an effect on humans. Before describing these effects it shall be mentioned however, that not only the image itself decides on the emotional reaction it can elicit but also the presenter of the image is decisive. For example according to a study made by Craig/McCann reduced people who received information on how to save electricity by the Public Service Commission their electricity in the first month more than those who were informed by their electricity provider (1987: 85 et seq., see also Gardner/Stein, 1996: 80 et seq., 90 et seq.). Although Craig/McCann restricted the liability of their study (1987: 86 et seq.) they highlight their impression that high credibility of the information/image distributor seems to have an influence on the effect within the information recipient (1987: 87). Hence in

order to achieve the greatest outcome the most influential and by the spectator most respected person should provide the image/information.

There are different reactions that can be evoked within the spectator of an image, thus the presenter has to consider which reaction he wants to elicit. Weidenmann differentiates between four different effects: The activation effect infers that the image leads to the activation of a mental model which is based on information that the spectator already had previously (Weidenmann, 1988: 161 et seq.). Thus the information which the spectator acquires is immediately linked to a model which already existed in the person's mind (ibid.). For the activation effect no detailed images are necessary (ibid.). In the field of environmental governance this effect will mainly be sought to be reached within people who work already in the field of environmental protection, thus have their mental model about the planet's state and protection measures well prepared in their mind. A so called *focusing effect* occurs when the image changes priorities within an already existing mental model (Weidenmann, 1988: 162 et seq.). This reaction is often evoked by highlighting certain parts of an image by letters, symbols, etc. (ibid.). This effect ought to be accomplished within environmentally interested yet not active people. One speaks of a *construction effect* if the image serves as a component or an operational advice of a mental model that is to be built (Weidenmann, 1988: 163 et seqq.). A famous example for an image evoking a construction effect is a diagram (ibid.). This effect can often explain questions such as why and how (ibid.). Yet the spectator needs to have a certain amount of already existing knowledge in order to be able to put the different components together (ibid.). Hence this effect will also be sought to be accomplished within the mentality of environmentally informed yet not active people. The last effect, the so called replacement effect, occurs when the learner does not have any mental model for this type of information in his mind (Weidenmann, 1988:165 et seq.). An image can help in this case by labelling the important areas or by zooming in on the relevant part (ibid.). In environmental governance this effect should be achieved when trying to influence people who have

previously not been very interested in the environmental field and therefore lack the ability of knowing how to behave better in order to preserve the environment.

# IV. The role of the media

When discussing the power of images one may not neglect or forget the important role that media plays in this field. In the age of the internet, information, be it in the form of words or pictures, can be distributed to billions of people all around the world in very short time. The power of an image has therefore increased immensely within the last decades. The more the media informs about a certain issue, the more people will think of it and convert it into their daily life (see Green, 2000: 21, see also Rückert/Willeke, 27.03.2009: 5 last paragraphs). Images in the media does not only include images in a newspaper, magazine or on the internet but also movies, since a movie consists of thousands or millions of images. Thus also movies can contribute to a rise of environmental awareness and therefore play a role in environmental governance. Especially documentaries, such as "An inconvenient truth" or "Earth" have had a great impact on people (Kremer, 03.03.2009: 6 et seqq., see also Frey, 1999: 81 et seqq.) and raised their environmental awareness. This hope was also mentioned by Reiter in an interview about his show "Terra X – Expedition Erde": "Such shows [as Terra X] might lead to the fact that more younger people will again be interested in such topics [science and engineering university programs]" (Ettwig, 16.03.2009, translation made by the author).

One image that was broadcasted all around the world, leaving a great impression, was the picture of planet Earth taken from the spaceship Apollo 17 (Jasanoff, 18.03.2009: 2 et seq.).<sup>1</sup> This picture, showing the planet lonesome in space, put emphasis on themes such as the fragility and finiteness of the planet, which were and became the "chief impetus for environmental mobilization since the 1960s" (Jasanoff, 18.03.2009: 2 et seq.). Because of the media it were not only the citizens of the United States of America, but people from the whole

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The picture is available on http://grin.hq.nasa.gov/IMAGES/SMALL/GPN-2000-001138.jpg, visited: 18.03.2009.

world who could see the image and be touched by it. Thus the decisive medium by which people in the world are informed about amongst others environmental problems is the media. People expect from the media that it displays reality or things or events that actually occur or have occurred (Boehm, 2008: 246 et seq.). Hence it is the media's duty and responsibility to distribute correct and needed information (for detailed information regarding media and the environment see Kremer, 23.03.2009: 3 et seqq.). Images ought to be as objective as possible but still, in order to influence others, the picture editors of newspapers, magazines, homepages or movies have the power to choose the image that best displays their purpose. By doing so the image becomes their tool in their goal to achieve a certain reaction.

#### V. Using images as a tool in environmental governance

Images of landscapes, natural objects or the whole planet can have a great correlation with the perception of nature (Boehm, 2008: 72). As described above the picture of the lonesome planet has influenced many (for a description of image processing see Weidenmann, 1988: 89). Some even link the above mentioned image to the growing internationalization of environmental politics (Jasanoff, 18.03.2009: 2, 10, 19, 29). Accordingly the 1972 UN conference on the Human Environment had the theme: "Only one Earth" (ibid.). Jasanoff even links the emergence of certain environmental concepts such as the precautionary principle, intergenerational equity and sustainability to the image of the lonesome planet (ibid.).

Yet, if one seeks to convince someone else that he/she has to take part in a certain project, such as certifying wood, one has to choose the best fitting image. In every image one can find many different aspects which all should be taken account of. Thus the challenge lies in finding an image which covers all the aspects needed in that specific situation.

6

# A. Focus of the image

Reactions to an image are highly dependant on the focus of the picture. This has two consequences: Firstly, images are a tool for manipulation, since the presenter can decide what and how much of it he/she wants to show the spectators (Jasanoff, 18.03.2009, 14 et seq.). For example did the superpowers in the late 1940's look at the world from the North Pole (ibid.). By doing so, they could adjust to and decide on how much of the southern hemisphere was included in their view, thus form their picture of the world (ibid.). In contrast to this includes the United Nations emblem, while also focussing on the North Pole, all countries and giving therefore each country equal relevance (ibid.). Secondly, one single picture can evoke different interpretations (Schuster/Woschek, 1989: 11) depending on on which part of the picture the focus lies. For example a picture showing a sick tree in a forest one can interpret, if seen from far away, in that sense that there are many trees and that there is therefore no need for protection measures. Yet, if seen from a closer perspective or if the sick tree is highlighted in some way, one only sees the sick tree and realizes immediately that protection measures must be taken not only for that tree but also for the trees around it. Therefore the type of images, whether it was taken from far away, whether it is a close up, whether it includes words or whether it is a drawing is highly important. This shall be further developed in the following paragraphs.

# 1. Satellite images

The first satellite image was taken in 1960 (Meisner, 2007: 74). Yet only since 1972 high quality pictures, taken continuously in order to collect data on natural changes, are possible (ibid.). These satellite images are the main source for the documentation of changes of the Earth's surface (ibid.).

Pictures taken from far away have the power to show two important messages: One, seeing the planet floating lonely in space shows the finiteness and fragility of it and emphasizes that this is our only home. Payette, a Canadian astronaut, stated that "you feel that planet Earth is one of a kind. There is only this one planet, which we share with 7 billion people" (cited in Pachnike/Volz, 2007: 8, translation made by the author). Two, no national boundaries, artificially created by human beings, can be seen from space (Jansanoff, 18.03.2009, 2 et seq.).<sup>2</sup> The Saudi-Arabian astronaut Bin Salman al-Saud experienced that "on the first day everyone of us pointed to his/her own land. On the third and fourth day everyone pointed to his/her continent. From the fifth day on, there was only one Earth for us" (cited in Pachnike/Volz, 2007: 8, translation made by the author). While the former investigation is of general importance for environmental awareness, the latter has special relevance for environmental governance, since it makes obvious that no single state can save the planet but that this is a goal that has to be achieved by all states together, without taking account of boundaries. Thus if discussions in international environmental conferences are stuck at some point and countries' representatives try to insist on their perspective it might be helpful to display the image of planet Earth on a big screen just to remind everyone in the room, that in the field of environmental protection one has to work together and to forget about national boundaries.

One other feature of satellite images is that they deliver a lot of information needed for landscape documentation. Thus their global, consistent view which can be reproduced many times offers a source for the documentation of for example land cover change (Defries/Townshend, 1999: 371, 386) and serves also as basis for the creation of maps (Meisner, 2007: 74). Additionally satellite images can in contrast to photographs give us a global, unrestricted picture of the world, independent from political boundaries (ibid.), thus the course of a river can be traced without limitations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Payette also stated that "no matter where we were born, which language we speak and which religion we belong to. We are all in the same space boat" (Cited in Pachnike/Volz, 2007: 8, translation made by the author).

# 2. Photographs

In contrast to wide angled satellite images photographs can be a visualization of problems that are visible on smaller scales. For example changes in glacier covering can perfectly be shown by photographs. Therefore are photographs in the field of environmental governance very important in order to document changes in landscape, structures, etc. but also to document small changes and facts such as the sick tree amongst many healthy trees as used in the example above.

Photographs are not only a tool to support one's point of view in discussions but also to acquire necessary scientific information about a certain natural resource, a site etc.. For example are hemispherical photographs a great tool to determine the canopy cover of a forest (Trichon/Walter/Laumonier, 1998, especially 229 et seq.).

# 3. Graphs and sketches

Not only images taken by some kind of a camera can be used in order to influence others. In many natural science articles graphs or sketches are used to explain the correlation with or the function of something. Graphs and sketches are often used as illustrations, because they are easy and quick to understand (see Weidenmann, 1988: 157). While it would suffice to tell the reader for example the numbers of the predicted sea level rise under certain scenarios, the International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) shows this information by using graphs (see IPCC Fourth Assessment Report, 2007: 339). By doing so, the given information can be understood at a glance.

Graphs or sketches are not only valuable when presenting research results, but also when trying to explain something to someone else (Weidenmann, 1988: 163 et seq.). For example is the graph of a person throwing a bottle in a garbage can printed on almost every bottle labelling. Again, there is no need for many words, but everyone understands the instruction given by this small icon. Images as an explanation tool are not only useful in relation to everyone in daily life, but also in the field of environmental politics or project discussions. What could easier explain the interrelation between the loss of rain forest and the increase of  $CO_2$  in the atmosphere than a short graph? Thus while presenting one's idea about sustainable forest use for example it can be very helpful to use a graph or sketch to demonstrate one's thoughts.

#### B. Positive versus negative images

The above mentioned movie "Earth" presents the spectator positive images of the planet and the beauty of our planet. In contrast to this, the movie "An inconvenient truth" displays the human induced problems, thus shows the spectator negative or shocking images of the constitution of planet Earth. In the same way most images presented in newspapers during the last years focused on the destruction of the planet. According to Kremer have "the images taken by the media [...] contributed to an apocalyptic vision of ecology with the objective of shocking people" (Kremer, 23.03.2009: 5). Yet Kremer wonders, whether it is "possible to leave this event-oriented approach to focus on real ecological information" (Kremer, 23.03.2009: 5). The importance of correct media coverage has been described above in section IV. Yet the question is, whether positive images, such as in "Earth", are a better way of lobbying for environmental protection or whether shocking images such as in "An inconvenient truth" have a greater impact on people. According to the authors opinion feel more people the need to do something for the environment after having seen shocking images of the planet's constitution. This can well be seen in the field of donations. The willingness to donate something is in the author's view greater after the occurrence of disasters than after a person has been presented with beautiful images of the planet. The fact that shocking images might have a greater influence can also be seen in the field of the anti-smoking campaign; politicians do not try to convince people to stop smoking by showing them images of a healthy liver but by showing shocking images (for further information see IP/03/1213,

15.04.2009). Thus negative images seem to have a greater effect on people. However the greatest effect can probably be achieved when using before and after pictures, thus by presenting first positive and afterwards negative images, since this increases the negative aspect and thus the reaction within the people.

#### C. Displaying the answer or leaving room for thoughts?

There are different ways of influencing people with images. The first approach tries to choose an image that is precisely constructed so that the spectator can understand the image and its message easily and fast (Weidenmann, 1988: 152 et seqq.) as for example the above described sketches and graphs. The other approach tends to focus more on the situation as a whole (ibid.). If the spectator is introduced to the image together embedded in its context, he/she has to think about it himself/herself, ask questions about it and really deal with the topic (ibid.). By doing so the spectator creates a context of the image within himself/herself (ibid., this form of presentation is also preferred by Gardner/Stern, p. 83.). An image that people can relate to or identify themselves with has a greater impact than random images (Gardner/Stern, 1996: 84). Thus the information a person has had before being shown a certain image has a great influence on the way the information is perceived. Yet not only the before given information but also the surrounding environment, the context and the metacognitive control are decisive (Weidenmann, 1988: 98). According to Jasanoff can images only persuade someone if the presentation of them has been well prepared "through the creation of a stylized visual idiom" or if the presenter knows that traditionally people respond in a certain way to a certain image (18.03.2009: 11). Thus while choosing the right image and a fitting context one ought to remember that, as Weidenmann puts it, the "decisive learning criteria is not the absorption of relevant information but the self-contained acquirement of insight" (Weidenmann, 1988: 154, translation made by the author).

In order to change peoples' behaviour and attitudes it is important that the image is shown closely in time and space to the people (Gardner/Stein, 1996: 85 et seq.). Thus for example an image campaign about reducing car use ought to be placed at the front page of the daily newspaper, so that the people see it in the mornings before they have to take the decision on how to get to work. This method can well be seen on cigarette packages which have shocking pictures of liver cancer etc. on it as practised in Canada and planned in some countries of the European Union (See IP/03/1213, 15.04.2009). Right before they want to smoke a cigarette they are confronted with the shocking images.

#### VI. Conclusion

"The power of images" is not an empty phrase but entails a lot of truth. Images have the power to influence people consciously and subconsciously. Thus especially in politics one ought to consider carefully when to use which image.

In many cases it is sufficient to use one image whilst one would need to use thousand words to communicate the same message. Additionally can images serve as a visual aid to highlight the spoken or written words. This can be made by using satellite images, photographs or graphs or sketches. Whilst the first serve best for demonstrating a global unrestricted picture, photographs are a great tool to support findings on the local level. Graphs and sketches are best used to demonstrate how something functions, thus for educational purposes.

While choosing the image which shall be presented one ought to pay attention to the aimed response and accordingly decide on the focus, thus the type of image and whether to use a positive or negative, thus shocking image. It is recommended to choose images which communicate clearly ones message but which still invite the spectator to think about the message himself/herself. Yet the spectator should not be left alone in the process of framing the image and reading its message, but the presenter ought to create the right framing and context and by doing so support the spectator in the process of interpreting the image.

The use of images in environmental governance is a great aid for the presenter, since images can be used as a supplementary tool to show, clearify and support one's point of view and to get other people's attention by touching their emotions. Yet it is not only an aid for the presenter but also for the spectator. The image can serve as an instrument for the spectator to understand the message better and to have the information easier processed within his/her mind. Thus the presentation of an image in the field of environmental governance does not cause any disadvantages but rather several advantages for all affected parties.

Linde Grießhaber

# **Bibliography:**

- Barrett, Andrew/Barrington, Lowell: Is a picture worth a thousand words?: Newspaper photographs and voter evaluation of political candidates, The Harvard international journal of press/politics, 10 (2005): 98-113.
- Boehm, Gottfried. Wie Bilder Sinn erzeugen, Die Macht des Zeigens, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, Berlin: Berlin University Press, 2008.
- Craig, C. Samuel/McCann, John: Assessing communication effects on energy conservation, The Journal of Consumer Research 5 (1987): 82-88.
- Defries, R./Townshend, J.: Global Land Cover Characterization from Satellite Data: From Research to Operational Implementation?, Global Ecology and Biogeography 8 (1999), 367-379.
- Ettwig, Andreas: Thomas Reiter, 2008, to be found on http://planet-interview.de/thomas-reiter-21092008.html (visited: 16.03.2009).
- Frey, Siegfried: Die Macht des Bildes, Der Einfluss der nonverbalen Kommunikation auf Kultur und Politik, Bern [a.o.]: Verlag Hans Huber, 1999.
- Fulwider, John: The Power of Pictures? Evidence from the Case of Abu Ghraib, All Academic Research, 2006, 1-29, to be found on http://www.allacademic.com//meta/p\_mla\_apa\_research\_citation/1/5/2/5/0/pages1525 02/p152502-1.php, (visited: 02.04.2009).
- Gardner, Gerald/Stern, Paul: Environmental problems and human behaviour, Boston [a.o.]: Allyn and Bacon, 1996.

Green, Gaye: Imagery as ethical inquiry, Art education 53 (2000), 19-24.

IP/03/1213, 2003, to be found on: http://europa.eu/rapid/pressReleasesAction.do?reference= IP/03/1213&format=HTML&aged=0&language=EN&guiLanguage=en (visited: 15.04.2009).

- IPCC Fourth Assessment Report, Nicholls, R.J., P.P. Wong, V.R. Burkett, J.O. Codignotto, J.E. Hay, R.F. McLean, S. Ragoonaden and C.D. Woodroffe, 2007: Coastal systems and low-lying areas. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden and C.E. Hanson, Eds., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 315-356.
- Jasanoff, Sheila: Image and Imagination: The formation of global environmental consciousness, Harvard University, to be found on http://belfercenter.ksg.harvard.edu/files/imagination.rev.pdf, (visited: 18.03.2009).
- Kremer, Sarah: Communication for the environment, the power of the media, 2005/2006, to be found on http://www.euroculturemaster.org/pdf/kremer.pdf, (visited: 23.03.2009).
- Meisner, Robert: Satelliten sehen mehr, in: Gasometer Oberhausen/DLR (Editor): Satellitenbilder der Erde, Das Auge des Himmels, Essen: Klartext Publisher, 2007, 74.
- Pachnike, Peter/ Volz, Wolfgang: Die Perspektive Gottes, in: Gasometer Oberhausen/DLR (Editor): Satellitenbilder der Erde, Das Auge des Himmels, Essen: Klartext Publisher, 2007, 8-9.
- Rückert, Sabine/Willeke, Stefan: Wir sind so verdammt göttlich, Zeitonline, 2009, to be found on http://www.zeit.de/2009/13/DOS-Amok?page=1 (visited: 27.03.2009).
- Schuster, Martin/Woschek, Bernard: Bildhafte und verbale Kommunikation, in: Schuster, Martin/Woschek, Bernard (Editor): Nonverbale Kommunikation durch Bilder, Stuttgart: Verlagsgruppe Hogrefe, 1989, 3-22.
- Trichon, Valérie/Walter, Jean-Michel/Laumonier, Yves: Identifying Spatial Patterns in the Tropical Rain Forest Structure Using Hemispherical Photographs, Plant Ecology 137, 1998, 227-244.

Weidenmann, Bernd: Psychische Prozesse beim Verstehen von Bildern, Bern [a.o.]: Hans Huber Verlag, 1988.